
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Government Accountability Project 

1612 K Street NW Suite 1100 

Washington, DC, 20006 

(202) 457-0034  

www.whistleblower.org 

 

Via Email 

 

February 2, 2021 

 

Hon. Henry Kerner 

United States Special Counsel 

Office of Special Counsel 

1730 M St. NW #218 

Washington, DC 20036 

 

Re:  Unlawful Gag Orders Issued by the Department of Health and Human Services 

 

Dear Special Counsel Kerner:  

  

The Office of Special Counsel (OSC) has shown its effectiveness in investigating and obtaining 

corrective action against nondisclosure policies, forms and agreements that violate the “anti-gag” 

provisions in the Whistleblower Protection Enhancement Act (WPEA), 5 U.S.C. 2302(b)(13), as 

well as every Consolidated Appropriations Act passed since FY 1988  

 

It has come to our attention that the Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) leadership 

on multiple occasions violated the anti-gag laws enforced by your Office. Separate Freedom of 

Information Act (FOIA) requests by Buzzfeed News and our organizations recently returned 

records evidencing these violations in primary documents, including email correspondence and 

agency communication policies. These violations are discussed in depth below.  

 

Congress passed and presidents signed laws creating anti-gag rights for federal workers because 

agency gag orders frequently contradict whistleblowers’ long-established legal rights and 

protections. The alarming violations of these rights by HHS leadership require a strong response. 

Otherwise, a workforce chilled from disclosing substantial and specific threats to public health and 

safety may never thaw. This chilling effect can be especially deadly during a historic health 

emergency. 

 

Our organizations therefore request you reaffirm your past efforts by investigating violations of 

these anti-gag laws and ordering corrective action.  
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 Former HHS Spokesman and His Senior Advisor Issued Illegal Gag Orders 

 

According to records obtained by Buzzfeed News through the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA), 

on July 15, 2020, HHS Assistant Secretary of Public Affairs (ASPA) Michael Caputo wrote in an 

email to HHS and Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) personnel: “According to 

longstanding policy, no media interviews are permitted without HHS ASPA clearance. There are no 

exceptions.”1  

 

Beyond this blatant restriction on HHS workers’ First Amendment speech, Mr. Caputo specifically 

and repeatedly demanded insight into the approval process behind a National Public Radio 

interview with an HHS official, adding CDC Director Dr. Robert Redfield into the email chain.2 

The records released of this exchange do not evidence any objection from Dr. Redfield to Mr. 

Caputo’s gag order, nor do they discuss HHS workers’ whistleblowing rights—an obvious 

exception required by law to the longstanding policy Mr. Caputo cited. Because significant portions 

of these records were withheld from public release, our organizations encourage OSC to request 

these records in unredacted form. However, the unqualified policy on its face violates section 

2302(b)(13).  

 

Additionally, on August 8, 2020, a senior advisor to Mr. Caputo wrote a lengthy email to a number 

of HHS and CDC personnel, including both Mr. Caputo and Dr. Robert Redfield, requesting 

alterations to both the substance and review process of two recent CDC Morbidity and Mortality 

Weekly Reports (MMWR): 

 

I am asking that you put an immediate stop on all the CDC [Morbidity and 

Mortality Weekly Report] reports due to the incompleteness of reporting that is done 

in a manner to mislead the public…CDC to me appears to be writing hit pieces on 

the administration and meant at this time to impact school re-openings and they then 

send it to the media knowing it is deceiving. I ask it to be stopped now!...[sic] 

 

This immediate stop will ensure that reports are only cleared if I get ahead of time, 

the: actual ‘full’ MS Word version and NOT the summary, we must clear the full 

report, with the relevant tables…FINAL, not scratched up. Their final. I must read it, 

refer back to the CDC writers, and get agreement on 1-2 lines before it is posted…If 

I see the final report, and we agree on my 2 lines, only then can it be posted. If this is 

not done, then cannot be reported and cleared by APSA. Period. CDC cannot police 

itself…Nothing to go out unless I read and agree with the findings how they CDC, 

wrote it and I tweak it to ensure it is fair and balanced and ‘complete’…Please put a 

stop on all immediately Michael…[sic] 

 

I am asking that the CDC immediately go back to the 2 reports and adjust the 

summary and if this is not done, then the stoppage be immediate… 

 
1 Michael Caputo, email to Nina Witkofsky et al. (July 15, 2020), available at 

https://beta.documentcloud.org/documents/20464527-leopold-hhs-foia-caputo-alexander-emails p. 78. 
2 Michael Caputo, email to Robert Redfield et al. (July 16, 2020), available at p. 76. 

https://beta.documentcloud.org/documents/20464527-leopold-hhs-foia-caputo-alexander-emails
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So I request that CDC go back to that report and insert this else Michael, pull it down 

and stop all reports immediately…3 [emphasis in original] 

 

Among the HHS and CDC personnel receiving this email was Dr. Christine Casey, an editor for the 

CDC Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR). POLITICO reported on a portion of this 

exchange, saying “the politically appointed HHS spokesperson and his team demanded and received 

the right to review CDC’s scientific reports to health professionals.”4 This message sought an 

“immediate stop” to CDC MMWR’s disclosure of information concerning substantial and specific 

dangers to public health and safety. None of the correspondence our organizations reviewed 

contained an exception to this “immediate stop” concerning whistleblowing protections. Our 

organizations therefore request you investigate this incident.  

 

HHS Communications Policy Constitutes an Illegal Gag Order 

 

Our organizations obtained through FOIA the January 2020 “ASPA Playbook” which is a document 

detailing ASPA’s purpose, policies, and procedures. The Playbook is attached as Exhibit 1. 

 

Page 23 of the Playbook states “Please do not pre-arrange interviews [with the media] before 

receiving ASPA approval. Also, do not pitch news, blogs and op-eds before receiving ASPA 

approval.”5 The Playbook reasserts this requirement in Appendix III: “Press materials (including 

press releases, media advisories, talking points, Q&As, and interview requests, as well as op-eds 

and blogs)…must be submitted to ASPA via email at [redacted]@hhs.gov. All media interview 

requests must be submitted to the ASPA News Division for clearance via email at 

[redacted]@hhs.gov.”6  

 

OSC once found that HHS explicitly violated anti-gag laws with three gag orders between January 

2017 and May 2018.7 Although HHS may have rewritten their anti-gag policies as a result of those 

violations, this Playbook lacks any acknowledgement of whistleblowers’ right to make protected 

disclosures despite its restrictions on HHS workers’ speech.  

 

The ramifications of this violation should not be trivialized as merely semantical omissions. 

Employees reading the Playbook may not understand that their right to make protected 

whistleblower disclosures supersedes restrictions its policies place on this right. Our organizations 

request you review this Playbook and other HHS communications policies as a part of this 

investigation.  

 

 
3 Paul Alexander, email to Michael Caputo and Robert Redfield et al. (August 8, 2020), available at p. 106-110. 
4 Dan Diamond, “Trump officials interfered with CDC reports on Covid-19,” POLITICO (Sept. 11, 2020), available at 

https://www.politico.com/news/2020/09/11/exclusive-trump-officials-interfered-with-cdc-reports-on-covid-19-412809. 
5 Exhibit 1 at 23. 
6 Exhibit 1 at 36-41. 
7 Irvin McCullough and Zack Kopplin, “Gag Orders at Federal Agencies Are Violating Whistleblower Laws,” 

Washington Post, (June 8, 2018), available at https://www.washingtonpost.com/news/posteverything/. 
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Full Investigation Warranted to Reveal Other Illegal Gag Orders 

 

Further, while the full scope of violations remains unknown, there are indications that speech has 

been suppressed. OSC should conduct a full investigation into these violations and the concerning 

incident described below.  

 

According to records Buzzfeed News obtained through FOIA, on June 27, 2020, a CNN Senior 

Medical Correspondent wrote to Mr. Caputo seeking to confirm that the HHS Operation Warp 

Speed “is working on a vaccine education campaign for the public to increase the chances that 

people will get the COVID vaccine when it comes out.” Mr. Caputo declined to confirm the tip and 

sought to squash the story instead, responding that the correspondent’s source “does not have actual 

visibility of the issue…I’d hate to see CNN put out an [sic] wildly incorrect story.”8 

 

The correspondent replied that her two sources were Anthony Fauci, a leading member of the White 

House Coronavirus Task Force, and Kristen Nordlund, a CDC spokeswoman. She disclosed Ms. 

Nordlund’s response to a query about the program: “This question would be better suited for HHS 

as they are handling Operation Warp Speed work…Would suggest reaching out to the new assistant 

secretary for public affairs [sic] at HHS, Michael Caputo re: covid vaccine campaign. For [sic] what 

I understand he is spearheading it.”9 An assumingly angered Mr. Caputo wrote to Ms. Nordlund, 

Dr. Redfield, and a number of other HHS and CDC staff: “In what world did you think it was your 

job to announce an Administration public service announcement campaign to CNN? Dr Redfield, is 

[sic] like us all to get on a call ASAP Monday to discuss this.”10  

 

On Monday, June 29, 2020, Mr. Caputo wrote a short, one-sentence email titled “Staff” to Dr. 

Redfield and his acting Chief of Staff: “Can we have a teleconference meeting with the CDC 

communications [redacted][?]”11 It is likely that this email and its resultant teleconference 

responded to the weekend’s events. Mr. Caputo’s aforementioned, egregious violation three weeks 

later leads our organizations to recommend OSC seek records regarding this teleconference—notes, 

subsequent correspondence, etc.—and fully investigate the entire incident to evaluate whether Mr. 

Caputo issued any other illegal gag orders. 

 

Gag Orders Violate the Whistleblower Protection Enhancement Act and Appropriations Laws  

 

Both the Whistleblower Protection Enhancement Act (WPEA) and Congressional Appropriations 

Acts contain language prohibiting Congress from funding agencies that “implement or enforce” any 

“non-disclosure policy, form, or agreement if such policy, form, or agreement does not contain” 

provisions reaffirming that employee whistleblower rights are controlling, despite any 

nondisclosure restrictions.12 The anti-gag provision of the Whistleblower Protection Enhancement 

Act (5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(13)) specifically states that employees with authority to take personnel 

 
8 Michael Caputo, email to Elizabeth Cohen (June 27, 2020), available at p. 28. 
9 Elizabeth Cohen, email to Michael Caputo (June 27, 2020), available at p. 27. 
10 Michael Caputo, email to Kristen Nordlund and Robert Redfield et al. (June 27, 2020), available at p. 27.  
11 Michael Caputo, email to Robert Redfield and Nina Witkofsky (June 29, 2020), available at p. 41. 
12 5 USC §2302(b)(13); §§713 and 743, Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2020. 
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actions cannot implement or enforce any non-disclosure policy unless the policy statement contains 

the explicit language guaranteeing whistleblower rights as set forth in the footnote, below.13   

 

OSC has repeatedly instructed that agencies cannot implement or enforce nondisclosure policies, 

forms or agreements (NDAs), including management communications, that restrict federal 

employees’ speech without including that a statutorily required exemption for speech that 

constitutes protected whistleblowing activity. As OSC recognized: 

 

Nondisclosure agreements and policies can chill would‐be whistleblowers from coming 

forward. These orders must clearly state that federal employees have a right to make 

disclosures of wrongdoing.14 

 

OSC broadly interprets the anti-gag statutes to cover all authoritative management communications 

and has ordered corrective actions to federal agencies that have issued unlawful gag orders. Those 

agencies include HHS.15 While HHS may have taken corrective action to recognize the anti-gag 

requirements on its website, under section 115(a)(2) of the Whistleblower Protection Enhancement 

Act, the website is additive to including the required addendum whenever relevant. HHS does not 

have the discretion to ignore this law in daily operations.    

 

HHS personnel are heroically working to end a historic pandemic. Unfortunately, under unlawful 

gag orders from their Department, would-be whistleblowers championing science have been 

silenced, hampering Congress’ oversight capabilities and citizens’ right to know. OSC must 

investigate these violations in full and order HHS to reissue corrective communications to 

Department employees with modified language that conforms with the statutory mandate of 5 USC 

§2302(b)(13), as discussed above.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
13 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(13) reads as follows:  

Any employee who has authority to take, direct others to take, recommend, or approve any personnel action, 

shall not, with respect to such authority— 

 

(13) implement or enforce any nondisclosure policy, form, or agreement, if such policy, form, or agreement 

does not contain the following statement: “These provisions are consistent with and do not supersede, conflict 

with, or otherwise alter the employee obligations, rights, or liabilities created by existing statute or Executive 

order relating to (1) classified information, (2) communications to Congress, (3) the reporting to an Inspector 

General of a violation of any law, rule, or regulation, or mismanagement, a gross waste of funds, an abuse of 

authority, or a substantial and specific danger to public health or safety, or (4) any other whistleblower. 
14 OSC Press Release, OSC's Enforcement of the Anti-Gag Order Provision in Whistleblower Law (Jan. 25, 2017), 

available at https://www.scribd.com/document/337635299/OSC-s-Enforcement-of-the-Anti-Gag-Order-Provision-in-

Whistleblower-Law. 
15 See McCullough and Kopplin Washington Post Op-Ed, n. 7.  

https://www.scribd.com/document/337635299/OSC-s-Enforcement-of-the-Anti-Gag-Order-Provision-in-Whistleblower-Law
https://www.scribd.com/document/337635299/OSC-s-Enforcement-of-the-Anti-Gag-Order-Provision-in-Whistleblower-Law
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Very truly yours,  

 

/s/ 

Tom Devine 

Government Accountability Project 

 

/s/  

Irvin McCullough 

Government Accountability Project 

 

/s/ 

Freddy Martinez 

Open the Government 
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